
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • NEWLONDON.NH.GOV 

 

 

Planning Board 

MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday, May 13, 2025 

Whipple Town Hall 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:  Tim Paradis (Chair), Paul Vance, Janet Kidder (Selectboard Representative),  

Joe Kubit, Charlene Baxter, Emily Campbell 

 

STAFF PRESENT:   Adam Ricker (Town Planner/Zoning Administrator) 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  Liz Niehaus (Strawberry Blossom Montessori), Anthony Mento (SMR  

    Architecture), Aidan Schlotman (TFMoran), Robert Duval (TFMoran) 

 

 

1. Call to Order: Chair Paradis called the meeting to order at 6:32 pm 

 

2. Governance and Procedures 

 

Chair Paradis opened the meeting and reminded all present that the meeting was being recorded and 

would be shared for the public to view. 

 

3. Conceptual Site Plan Review 

 

Prospective Applicants: Bar Harbor Band and Strawberry Blossom Montessori 

Address:   331 Main Street 

Parcel ID:    084-089-0-0-0 (0.59 acres) and 084-089-0-0-0 (0.41 acres) 

Zone(s):   Zoned Commercial 

Summary:    Variance granted on April 1, 2025 

 

Chair Paradis opened the floor to Ms. Niehaus. 

 

Ms. Niehaus gave an overview of Strawberry Blossom Montessori School’s mission and vision, 

emphasizing its strong community interest even before any formal advertising. The school aims to make 

early education accessible to families across all income levels. They plan to enroll up to 36 students with 

a staff of 5 teachers. Operating hours will align with the Kearsarge Regional School District (8:00am –

3:30pm), with limited childcare available until 5:00pm. The school will follow the same vacation 

schedule as the district. 

 

Mr. Mento described the proposed building as a single-story structure on a slab foundation, featuring 

two classrooms, offices, restrooms, and a multipurpose space. The layout has been rotated to reduce the 

building’s visual impact from Main Street, maintaining the town’s architectural character. The plan is 

about 90% complete, with final adjustments still being made to the elevations. 



 

Planning Board   Page 2 of 6 
Draft Minutes of May 13, 2025 

 

Mr. Vance asked which direction the upper windows would face. Mr. Mento explained that they face 

west toward Pleasant Street and are designed to bring natural light into both a classroom and a loft area. 

The windows will be part of a single-slope, shed-style dormer. 

 

Mr. Mento also noted that the highest point of the building is the cupola, which stands at 38 feet, which 

is below the maximum height permitted by zoning regulations. 

 

Mr. Kubit inquired about the building’s distance from Main Street. Mr. Mento explained that the 

structure has been set further back on the lot to allow for a larger green space in front. Mr. Schlotman 

reviewed the updated site layout, highlighting changes to accommodate the building, access roads, and 

parking. A one-way, single-lane driveway will enter from Main Street, with a bypass lane at the front 

entrance to facilitate drop-off and prevent traffic from backing up onto the road. 

 

Mr. Schlotman also described the landscape design, which includes natural vegetation buffers, a 

discovery garden, and a small perimeter fence to ensure student safety. The project will convert what is 

currently a parking lot into a greener space, reducing impervious surfaces by 0.2 acres and decreasing 

runoff into local catch basins. 

 

Mr. Vance asked for clarification on the drop-off and pick-up process. Ms. Niehaus explained the 

routine and how the bypass lane will help maintain traffic flow off of Main Street. Mr. Vance asked 

whether vehicles exiting the site would be required to turn right onto Gould Road. Ms. Niehaus noted 

that a traffic study was conducted and that, while a right turn would be recommended during peak times, 

drivers could turn left when there is no conflicting traffic. 

 

Ms. Kidder asked how the school plans to handle adverse weather. Ms. Niehaus explained that students 

will be required to wear appropriate outdoor clothing, and the facility includes indoor space for play and 

activities when the weather does not allow for outdoor time. 

 

Ms. Kidder inquired about parking capacity. Ms. Niehaus stated that the plan includes 15 parking 

spaces, with 3 designated for ADA compliance. With 6 staff members, this leaves 7–8 spots available 

for parents. Ms. Kidder asked about snow removal, and Mr. Schlotman indicated that snow storage is 

planned for the back of the lot. 

 

Mr. Vance asked how many cars could fit in the driveway before traffic would begin to back up onto 

Main Street. Mr. Schlotman responded that several vehicles could queue before reaching the road, and 

teachers will be trained to direct drivers into the bypass lane and parking area to keep traffic flowing. 

 

Ms. Kidder asked about signage for the school. Ms. Niehaus described a 3'x4' hanging sign to be placed 

along Main Street and an additional flat-mounted sign on the west-facing side of the building. 

 

Ms. Kidder asked what would be used for exterior lighting. Mr. Mento noted that the fixtures will be 

colonial in style and fully dark-sky compliant. One of the submitted plans outlines light dispersal, which 

shows minimal lighting overall. The porch will feature under-soffit lighting, and the building’s sign will 

be subtly illuminated with concealed fixtures. 

 



 

Planning Board   Page 3 of 6 
Draft Minutes of May 13, 2025 

Mr. Kubit asked whether students would be enrolled for the full day or if there would be a half-day 

option. Ms. Niehaus responded that all enrolled students will attend full-day programs, which will 

include a scheduled nap time for younger children. 

 

Mr. Vance asked if the cutback area in front of Bar Harbor Bank was being considered as part of this 

proposal. Mr. Ricker answered that no changes are currently planned by the Town. 

 

Ms. Baxter asked how much of the parking lot would be illuminated and the expected height of the light 

poles. Mr. Schlotman responded that the project is still in the conceptual phase, so specifics haven’t 

been finalized. However, lighting is planned along the outer edge of the sidewalk for safety. Chair 

Paradis asked if the poles might be approximately 12 feet tall. Mr. Mento estimated the lights would be 

around 12 to 15 feet high and noted they are working to incorporate smaller fixtures that complement 

the character of Main Street. 

 

Ms. Baxter then inquired if there had been any consideration of operating as a year-round school. Ms. 

Niehaus said they are open to the idea but recognize the importance of summer breaks for staff. If there 

is strong interest from families, they may explore offering a summer program or camp. Ms. Baxter 

clarified that this is not a childcare center but an early childhood education facility, with a focus on 

school-year programming rather than year-round care. 

 

Mr. Ricker brought up the buffer zone near the driveway and noted that the board has the authority to 

waive certain requirements. He asked Schlotman to explain the buffer layout. Mr. Schlotman said all 

buffer zones meet the 10-foot requirement except for one area. He identified the specific location and 

explained that ditches and natural vegetation are planned there, though it’s unclear whether this fully 

satisfies the regulation. 

 

Mr. Ricker added that this is a gray area in the ordinance but noted a comparable situation where the 

Evans Store parking lot directly abuts the Souliotios property. Chair Paradis asked if relocating the 

building could resolve the issue but acknowledged that the structure’s design and orientation likely 

prevent that. Mr. Duval agreed. 

 

Mr. Vance asked if the bank building is located directly on the lot line. Mr. Schlotman confirmed that it 

is very close, and Mr. Duval added that it is set at zero on the Pleasant Street side. Mr. Vance then 

inquired about green space on the northwest side of the buffer, and what was located behind the buffer. 

Mr. Duval said that area behind the proposed buffer is primarily gravel. Mr. Vance expressed concern 

about the limited green space, noting that it may not be visually appealing. 

 

Ms. Kidder raised a concern about the uncertainty surrounding the future of the Bar Harbor Bank 

property. Ms. Neihaus explained that there are plans to demolish the existing building and replace it with 

a new structure that is one-third the size. Mr. Duval confirmed he is working with the bank on that 

project in coordination with this one. 

 

Chair Paradis asked about the architectural intent behind moving the new school building further back 

from the street. He referenced the previous structure, which had provided a visual screen, and asked 

whether the new building and its landscaping would serve a similar purpose. Mr. Mento confirmed that 

this was considered in the site design. Chair Paradis also asked whether trees would be planted to shield 



 

Planning Board   Page 4 of 6 
Draft Minutes of May 13, 2025 

the exposed wall and help screen the parking area behind the bank. Mr. Mento confirmed that trees are 

planned and noted the retaining walls will be made of stacked stone rather than concrete to match the 

character of the town. Chair Paradis expressed enthusiasm about the building’s placement further back 

from the road. 

 

Ms. Campbell asked whether a generator would be installed. Mr. Mento said it had not yet been 

discussed but could be evaluated with further study. Chair Paradis inquired about heating options and if 

heat pumps had been considered. Mr. Mento explained that heat pumps are being considered, along with 

radiant floor heating and rooftop solar panels. 

 

Mr. Vance asked if the water precinct had approved the application. Mr. Schlotman confirmed that 

approval was granted for usage for an amount under 400 gallons per day (exact number was not readily 

available). 

 

Ms. Baxter inquired about the project timeline. Mr. Schlotman stated they aim to meet the next 

submission deadline, and Mr. Mento added that they hope to finalize the design and begin construction 

this fall. 

 

Mr. Vance asked about state requirements for classroom space per student. Ms. Neihaus said that each 

classroom must provide 40 square feet per child, which has been factored into the design. Ms. Kidder 

asked if a sprinkler system would be required. Mr. Mento said that due to the building size and limited 

capacity it is not mandated by the fire department or town ordinance, but the building will fully comply 

with National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) egress and fire safety standards. 

 

Mr. Vance asked whether vehicles turning into the school who would need to cross oncoming traffic on 

Main Street would cause issue. Ms. Neihaus explained that multiple traffic studies have been conducted 

and concluded there is sufficient time and space to safely make the turn. She also noted there is a striped 

area at that location which allows other cars to pass. Mr. Ricker clarified that, under state traffic laws, 

those striped areas are not legally drivable. Ms. Neihaus added that they are actively working with the 

Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee to improve the safety of the crosswalk in that area. 

 

Mr. Ricker then asked if Chris Turgeon, from the New Hampshire Department of Transportation 

(NHDOT) had reviewed the proposal. Mr. Duval advised the proposal has been submitted, but not 

determination as been received from NHDOT. 

 

Chair Paradis opened the floor for public comment. There was none. 

 

He then asked the board for their thoughts on the reduced buffer. Ms. Baxter expressed no concern, 

citing the design as thoughtful and appropriate. Chair Paradis noted that, informally, the board appeared 

to have no objections to the smaller buffer. 

 

Mr. Vance inquired whether the previous building was located on the lot line. Mr. Ricker responded that 

it was close, approximately 10 feet from the sidewalk. 

 

Chair Paradis asked if there were any additional questions from the board. There were none. 

 



 

Planning Board   Page 5 of 6 
Draft Minutes of May 13, 2025 

Ms. Neihaus asked if the board would like any additional information or detail included with the next 

submission. No requests were made. 

 

Ms. Kidder mentioned that if solar panels are pursued, the preference would be for a rooftop installation 

rather than ground-mounted. She also noted that the section of sidewalk adjacent to the site is in good 

condition and is not scheduled for replacement in the initial phases of the town’s sidewalk improvement 

plan. 

 

Mr. Vance asked if the sign package would be submitted with the next materials. Mr. Mento asked if full 

sign designs were required at this stage. Mr. Ricker clarified that only the proposed size and location are 

needed at this time. 

 

Mr. Schlotman noted that one parking space is being removed in front of the lot. Mr. Vance asked where 

it would be relocated. Mr. Ricker explained that the single space will likely be shifted to the row in front 

of the New London Inn to make room for the new driveway entrance. 

 

Chair Paradis asked if there were any further questions. Hearing none, he thanked everyone for 

attending and expressed appreciation for their time and participation in the meeting. 
 

 

4. Site Plan Review Regulations 

 

Mr. Ricker stated that he is not yet ready to move forward with the regulation review and requested that 

the item be tabled until the next meeting on April 22, pending the board's agreement. He also asked 

members to reserve May 6 at 6:00 pm for a joint meeting with the ZBA to review a time-sensitive 

application. 

 

 

 

5. Other Business 

 

Mr. Ricker reviewed the upcoming summer meeting schedule, noting that the board will shift to one 

meeting per month in June, July, and August. There will be no second meeting in May as the joint 

meeting with ZBA happened earlier in the month. The proposed dates are June 10, July 22, and August 

12. The regular two-meeting schedule will resume after Labor Day. 

 

Mr. Ricker mentioned an upcoming update from the NH Municipal Association (NHMA) that he will be 

circulating. This is not a commentary about whether we support or oppose the legislation, just as 

information for consideration by board members. If the proposed legislation passes, it will bring 

significant changes that may require forming small working groups to address the new requirements. 

 

Mr. Ricker reminded the board that continuation of Town Meeting is scheduled for tomorrow at 6:00pm 

at the Hogan Gymnasium at Colby-Sawyer College. Ms. Kidder shared that Ashley Seybold has been 

hired as the new Town Administrator and will begin on June 5. 

 

Mr. Ricker concluded by announcing that the town offices are now fully staffed and expressed 

enthusiasm about moving forward with a full team. 



 

Planning Board   Page 6 of 6 
Draft Minutes of May 13, 2025 

 

6. Adjournment 

 

A motion was made by Ms. Campbell, and seconded by Ms. Kidder, to adjourn the meeting. The motion 

passed unanimously and the meeting was adjourned at 7:36pm. 
 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Kelsie L. Clarke 

Recording Secretary 

Town of New London 

 
Note: RSA 91-A:2, II provides that “Minutes of all such meetings, including nonpublic sessions, shall include the names of members, 

persons appearing before the public bodies, and a brief description of the subject matter discussed and final decisions.” A video of the 

entire meeting may be available for viewing on the town website, NewLondon.NH.gov, if more than the brief description contained in 

these meeting minutes is desired. 


